
III. FINDISGS 

The Committee makes seven major finclil~gs. Each finding is accom- 
panied py subfindings and Q- an elxboratlon which draws upon the 
cvidentlary record set forth m our historical narrative (Part II here- 
in) and in the thirteen detailed reports which will be published apse sup- 
plements to this volume. T17e have sought to analyze in our findir)gs 
characteristics shared by intelligence programs, practices which In- 
volved abuses, and general problems in the system which led to those 
abuses. 

The findings treat the following themes that run through the facts 
revealed by our investigation of domestic intelligence activity : (9) 
Violating and Ignoring the Law; (B) Overbreadth of Domestic In- 
telligence ,Ictirity ; (C) Excessive Use of Intrusive Techniques; (D) 
ITsing Covert -1ctlon to Disrupt and Discredit Domestic Groups; 
(E) Political Abuse of Intelligence Information ; (F) Inadequate 
Controls on Dissemination and Retention ; (G) Deficiencies in Con- 
trol and Accountability. 

Viewed separately, each finding demonst,rates a serious problem in 
the conduct and control of domestic intelligence operations. Taken 
together, they make a compelling case for the necessity of change. 
Our recommendations (in Part IV) flow from this analysis and pro- 
pose changes which the Committee believes to be appropriate in light 
of the record. 

A. VIOLATING SND IGNORING THE LAW 

MAJOR FISDING 

The Committee finds that the domestic activities of the intelligence 
community at times violated specific statutory prohibitions and 
infriltgcd the constitutional rights of Smericnn citizens.l The legal 
questions involved in intelligence programs were often not considered. 
On other occasions, they were intentionally disregarded in the be- 
lief that, because the programs served the “national security” the law 
did not apply. While intelligence officers on occasion failed to disclose 
to their superiors programs which were illegal or of questionable le- 
gality, the Committee finds that the most serious breaches of duty 
were those of senior officials, who were responsible for controlling 
intelligence activities and generally failed to assure compliance with 
the law. 

Subfindings 
(a) In its attempt to implement instructions to protect the security 

of the TTnited States. the intelligence community engaged in some ac- 

1 This section discusses the legal issues raised by particular programs and ac- 
tirities only : a discussion of the aggregate effect upon constitutional rights of all 
domestic surveillance practices is at p. 290 of the Conclusions section. 
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tivities which violated statutory law and the constitutional rights of 

Anierican citizens. 
(b) Legal issues were often overlookctl by iilai~y of the intelligcncc 

officers who directed these operations. Some held a pragmatic view of 
intelligence activities that. did not regularly attach sufficient signifi- 
cance to cliiestions of legality. The qrlestion raised was aswtlly not 

whetlwr a particular program was legal or ethical. but whether it 
worked. 

(c) On some occasions when agenc,y ofhcials did assume. or were told, 
that a program ~1s illegal. they still permitted it to continue. They 
justified their conduct in some cases on the 
“the memy” to play by the rules 

ground that the failure of 
granted them the right to do likewise. 

and in other cases on the ground that t.he “national securit,y” per- 
inittetl programs that would otherwise be illegal. 

((1) Internal recognition of the illegality or the questionable le- 
gality of many of these activities frequently lecl to a tightening of se- 
curity rather than to their t.ermination. Partly to avoid exposure and a 
pubbc “flap.” knowledge of these programs was tightly held within 
the agencies. special filmg procedures were used. and “cover stories” 
were devised. 

(e) On occasion. intelliqencc agencies failed to disclose candidly 
their programs and prac&es to their own General Counsels, and to 
Attorneys General, Presidents. and Congress. 

(f) The internal inspection mechanisms of the CL4 and the FBI 
did not keep-and, in the case of the FBI, were not, designed to keep- 
the activities of those agencies within lepl bounds. Their primary 
concern was efficiency, not Iepalitv or propriety. 

(g) When senior administration officials with a duty to control 
domestic intelligence activities knew. or had a basis for suspecting, 
that questionable activities had occurred. they often responded with 
silence or approval. In certain cases, they were presented with a par- 
tial description of a program but did not ask for details. thereby 
abdicating their responsibility. In other cases, they. were fully aware 
of the nature of the practice and implicitly or explicitly approved it. 

E7aboration of findings 
The elaboration which follows details the general finding of the 

Committee that inattention to-and disregard of--legal issues was 

an all too common occurrence in the intelligence community. While 
this section focuses on the actions and attitudes of intelligence officials 
and certain high policv officials, the Committee recognizes that a 
pattern of lawless activity does not result from the deeds of a single 
stratum of the government or of a few individuals alone. The imple- 
mentation and continuation of illegal and questionable pro,rrrams 
\vonld not have been possible without the cooperation or tacit approval 
Of people at all levels within and above the intelligence community, 
through many.successire administrations. 

The agents in the field. for their part. rarely questioned the orders 
they rcceivecl. Their often irncertain knowledge of the law. coupled 
wit11 the natural desire to please one’s superiors and with simple 
bureaucratic momentum. clearly contributed to their \villingiress to 
participate in illecnl and questionable programs. The absence of anv 
prosecutions for law violations by intelligence agents jllerjtably af- 
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fected their attitudes as lvell. Under pressure from above to nccom- 
plish their assigned tasks, and without the realistic threat of prosecu- 
tion to remind them of their legal obligations, it is understandable 
that these agents frequently acted without concern for issues of law 
and at times assumed that normal legal restraints and prohibitions 
did not apply to their activities. 

Significant,ly, those officials at the highest levels of government, 
who had a duty to control the activities of the intelligence community, 
sometimes set in motion the very forces that permitted lan-lessness to 
occur-even if every act committed by intelligence agencies was not 
known to them. By demanding results without carefully limiting the 
means by which the results were achieved ; by over-emphasizing the 
threats to national security without ensuring sensitivity to the rights 
of American citizens; and by propounding concepts such SLS the right 
of the “sovereign” to break the law, ultimate responsibility for the 
consequent climate of permissiveness should be placed at their door.Z 

hhbfinding (a) 
In its attempt to implement instructions to protect the security Of 

the United States, the intelligence community engaged in some activi- 
ties which violated statutork la#w and the constitutional rights of 
American citizens. 

From 1940 to 19’73, the CIA and the FBI engaged in twelve covert 
mail opening programs in violation of Sections 1701-1703 of Title 18 
of the United States Code which prohibit the obstruction, intercep- 
tion, or opening of mail. Both of these agencies also engaged in war- 
rantless “surreptitious entries”-break-in-against American citizens 
within the ITnited States in apparent violation of state laws prohibit- 
ing trespass and burglary. Section A05 of the Federal Communications 
Act of 1934 was violated by SSA!s program for obtaining millions 
of telegrams of Americans unrelated to foreign targets and by the 
Army Security Agency’s interception of domestic radio communi- 
cations. 

All of these activities, as well as the FBI’s use of elect,ronic surveil- 
lance without, a substantial national security predicate, also infringed 
the ri,chts of countless Americans under the Fourth Amendment 
protection “against unreasonable searches and seizures.” 

The nl)usive techniques used by the FRI in COINTELPRO from 
1936 to 1971 inclutled violations of both federal and state statutes pro- 
hibiting nlail fraud, wire fraud, incitement to violence, sending 
obscrno material through the mail, and extortion. More fundamental$, 
the harassment of innocent citizens engaged in lawful forms of poht- 
ical expression did serious injury to the First ,Ymendment guarantee 
of freedom of speech and the ;,ight of the people to assemble peaceably 
and to petition the government for a redress of grievances. The 
Bureau’s maintenance of the Sccuritv Index. which targeted thousands 
of -\merican citizens for detention iii the event of national emergency, 
clearly overstepped the permissible bounds established by Congress 
in tllc Emergency Detention -ict of 1950 and represented. in contra- 
vention of the Act. a potential general suspension of the privilege 

‘The accoiintnIClity of senior administration officials is noted here to place 
the details n-hich follow in their proper context, and is developed at greater 
length in Finding G, p. 265. 
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of the writ of habeas corpns secured by ,Wiclc I, Section 9. of the 
Constitntion. 

~2 distrcssinq nnmler of the programs and techniqnes developed 
by the intelligence commnnitv involved transgressions against hnman 
clccencv that were no less sfrions than anv technical violations of law. 
.Sonlc of the nlost fnnclan~cntnl valnes of this society \vcrc tl~ientcncd l)y 
activities snch as the smear campaign against Dr. Martin Luther 
King, .Jr., the testing of dan~erons drugs on unsuspecting American 
citizens. the dissemination of infornintion abont the sex lives. drinking 
habits, ant1 marital problems of electronic surveillance targets. and 
the COIR’TET,PRO attempts to turn dissident organizations against 
one another and to destroy marriages. 

Rubfinding (b) 
Legal issues were often overlooked by many of the intelligence 

officers who directed these operations. Some held a pragmatic view 
of intelligence activities that did not regularly attach sufficient sig- 
nificance to questions of legality. The question raised was usually not 
whether a particular program was legal or ethical, but whether it 
worked. 

Legal issues were clearly not R primary consideration-if they were 
a consideration at all-in many of the programs and techniques of 
the intelligence community. When the former head of t,he FBI’s Ra- 
cial Intelligence Section was asked whether anvbody in the FBI at 
any time during the Is-pear course of COI?rTTET,PRO discussed its 
constituhionnlitg or Iera authority. for example, he replied : “No, we 
never gave it a thought.” 3 This att,itude is echoed by other Bureau 
officials in connection with other programs. The former Section Chief 
of one of the FRI’s Counterintelligence sections, and the former 
Assistant Director of the Rnrean’s Domestic Intelligence Division 
both testified that legal considerations lvere simply not raised in policy 
decisions concerning the FBI’s mail opening programs.4 Similarly. 
when the FRT was presented with the opportunity to assume responsl- 
bility for the CIA’s New York mail opening operation, legal factors 
played no role in the Bnrean’s refusal: rather. the opportunity was 
declined simply because of the attendant, expense, manpolver require- 
ments. and security problems.5 

One of the most abusive of all FBI pro,grams was its attempt to 
discredit Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Yet former FBI *4ssistant 
Director William C. Snlliran testified that he (‘never heard anyone 
ra,ise the qnestion of legality or ronstitutionwlitv. never.” 6 

Former Director of Central Intelligence Richard Helms testified 
publicly that he never serionslv questioned the legal status of t.hc 
twenty-year CL4 Xew York mail opening project, because he assumed 
his predecessor. Allen Dulles, had “made his legal peace with [it] .” 7 

’ George C. Moore testimong. U/3/75. p. 83. 
’ Bran&an testimony, 10/Q/75, pp. 13. 139, 140; Wannall testimony, 10/24/75, 

Hearings. Vol. 4. p. 149. 
6Branigan. 10/9/75, p. 89. 
’ William C. Sullivan testimony, 11/l/75, JYVJI 49,50. 
‘Richard Helms, 10/22/X. Hearings, Vol. 4. p. 94. This testimony is partially 

contradicted. hoverer. 11~ the fact that in 19iO Helms signed the Hnston Report. 
in which “covert mail co~ernprp”-define~l as mail qwnin,q--n-as specifically 
described as illegal. (Special Report. June 1950. p. 30.) 
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‘i 

tioi 
. [F]rom time to time,” 

out of it,” 8 
he said, “the ,tgency got useful informa- 

so he permitted it to cont.mue throu&out his seven- 
year tenure as Director: 

The Huston Plan that, was prepared for President Richard Nixon 
in .June 1970 constituted a virtual charter for the use of intrusive and 
illegal techniques a,cninst ,1merican dissidents as well as foreign 
agents. Its principal amhor has testified, hon-crer, that during the 
drafting sessions with representatives of the FRI. CL%, NSA. and 
Defense Intelligence Agency. no one ever objected to any of the rec- 
ommendations on the grounds that they involved illegal acts. nor was 
the legality or const,itntionality of any of the recommendations ever 
discussed.9 

William C. Sullivan, who participated in the drafting of the Huston 
Plan and served on the TTnite.d States Intelligence Board and as FBI 
*\ssistant, Director for Intelbgence for 10 years, stated that in his 
entire experience in the intelligence community he never heard legal 
issues raised at all : 

We never gave 
cause we were j 

any thought to this realm of reasoning. be- 
ust naturally pragmatists. The one thing we 

were concerned about Tvas t,his: Will this co~wse of action 
work, n-ill it get us what we want, will we reach the ob- 
jective that we clesire to reach? As far as legality is con- 
cerned, morals, or ethics, [it,] was never raised by myself or 
anybody else . . . I think this suggests really in government 
that 1ve are amoral. In government-I am not speaking for 
everybody-the general atmosphere is one of anlorality.1o 

~~ztbfincling (c) 

On some occasions lvhen agency officials did assume. or were told, 
that. a program was illegal. they still permitted it, to continue. They 
justified their conduct in some cases on the ground that the failure of 
“the enemy“ to play bv the rules granted them the right to do likewise, 
and in other cases on the ground that the “national security” permitted 
programs that ~onld otherwise be illegal. 

Even when agency officials recognized certain proprams or tech- 
niques to be illegal. they sometimes advocated their implementation 
or permitted them to continue nonetheless. 

This point. is illustrated br a passage in a 1954 mcmorandnm from 
an FBI -1ssistant Director to d. Edgar Hoover. which recommended 
that an electronic listening device be planted in the hotel room of a 
suspected Communist sympathizer : _ “ Although such San installation 
will not be legal. it is believed that. the intelligence. information t,o be 
obtained n-ill make such an installation necessary and desirable.“1’ 
Hoover approrcd the installation.‘2 

More than a decade later. a memorandum was sent to Director 
TToover which described the current FRI policy and procedures for 
‘*black baq jobs” (warrantless break-ins for purposes other than micro- 
phone installation). This memorandum read in part : 

a Helms. 10/22/75. Hearings. Vol. 4. p. 103. 
’ Huston. 9/23/X. Hearings. Vol. 2, p. 21. 
I” Sullivan, 11/l/76. pp. 92, 93. 
‘* Memorandum from Mr. Boardman to the Director, FBI, 4/30/54 
“Ibid. 
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Such a technique involves trespass and is clearly illegal ; 
thcreforc. it would be impossible to obtain any legal sawtion 
for it. Dcspitc this. “blacl; bag” jobs haw bwn usctl because 
the\- represent, an invaluable, technique in combatting snb- 
verii\~e activities . . . aimed directly at undermining and de- 
stroying our nati0n.13 

In other word?, breaking the law, was seen as useful in conlbating 
those who thrratened the legal fabric of s0ciet.y. ~Uthongh Hoover 
terminatetl the. general use of %laclr bag jobs” in *July 1966. they were 
employed on a large scale before that time and have been used in 
isolated instances since then. 

Another example of disregard for the law is found in a 1969 memo- 
randum from 1TTilliam C. Sullivan to Director Hoover. In June of 
that, year, Sullivan was requested by the Director. apparently at the 
urgi<g of White House officials to travel to France for the purpose of 
electronically monitoring the c.onversations of journalist ,Joseph 
1iraft.l 1Vith the cooperation of local authorities, Sullivan n-as able 
to hare n microphone installed in &aft’s hotel room, and informed 
IIoover of his success. “Parent.hetically,” he wrote. in his letter to the 
Director, “I might, add that such a corer is regarded as illegal.” I5 

The attitude that legal standards ancl issues of privacy can be over- 
ridden by other factors is further reflectecl in a memorandum written 
bv Richard Helms in connection with the testing of dangerous drugs 
oil unsuspecting American citizens in 1963. Mr. Helms wrote the 
Deputy Director of Central Intelligence : 

While I share your uneasiness and distaste for any program 
which tencls to intrude on an individual’s private and legal 
prerogatives, I believe it is necessary that the Agency main- 
tain a central role in t.his activity, keep current on enemy 
capabilities in the manipulation of human behavior, and 
maintain an offensive capability. I, therefore, recommend 
your approval for continuation of this testimony pro- 
gram . . .15a 

The history of the CIA’s New York mail opening program is re- 
plete with examples of consc.ious contravention of the law. The origi- 
nal proposal for large-scale mail opening in 1965, for instance, cx- 
plicit.ly recognizecl that “[t]here is no overt, authorizecl or legal cen- 
sorship or monitoring of first chass mails which enter, depart or 
transit the TTnited States at the present time.” I0 A 1962 memorandum 
on t.lic. project notecl that its exposure coulcl “give rise to grave charges 
of criminal misuse of the mails by Government agencies” and that 
“existing Federal statutes pmclucle the concoction of any legal excuse 
for the violation . . .” I7 llnd again in 1963, a CIA officer wrote: 
“There is no legal basis for momtoring postal conlnluIlications in the 
T-nitetl States except. during time of war or national einargency . . .” lb: 

Ia JIvmornndnm from IT’. C. Rullirnn to C. D. DeI,onch, 7/19/t% 
” Iieljort of the House Judiciary Committee, S/20/74, p. 150. 
la ;\Irmnrandum from William c’. Sullivan to J. Edgar Hoover, G/30/69. 

I” Memorandum from Richard Helms to the Deputy Director of Central Intelli- 
p?ncc. l’/li/C~. 

lo JSlilld memorandum, 11/7/55. 
Ii Mrmorandum from Dcput.r Chief, Counterintelligence Staff, to Director. (If- 

five of Swnritv 2/l/62. 
I8 1\Iemoranii&i from Chief, CI/Projwt to Chief, Division, g/26/63. 
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Both the former Chief of the, Counterintelligence Staff and the formel 
I>ircctor of Security-who were in charge of the Sew York projcct- 
testified that they believed it to be illegsl.l” One Inspector General who 
reviewed the project in 1060 also flatly stated : “[O]f course, me 
knew that this was illegal. . . . [Elverybody knew that it was 
[illegal). . . .“20 

In sl2ite of the general recognition of its illegality, the Pl’e\v York 
mail opening proJect continued for a total of 20 years and Vas not 
terminated until 1973, when the Watergate-created political climate 
llad increased the risks of esposure.21 

With the full knowledge of J. Edgar Hoorcr, moreover, the FBI 
continued to receive the fruits of this project for three years after the 
FBI Director informed the President of the United States that “the 
FBI is opposed to implementing any covert mail coverage because it is 
clearly illegal . . .‘* 2z The Bureau’s ox-n mail opening programs had 
I)ecn terniinated in 1966, but it continued intentionally and knowingly 
to benefit from the illegal acts of the CIA until 1073. 

The Huston Plan is another disturbing reminder of the fact that 
intelligence programs and techniques map be adr-ocated and author- 
ized with the knowIcdge that they are illegal. At least two of the 
options that were presented to President Nixon were described as 
unlawful on the face of the Report. Of “covert mail coverage” (mail 
opening) it was written that “[tlhis coverage, not haring the sanction 
of law, runs the risk of any illicit act magnified by the involvement of 
a Government agency. “23 The Report also noted that surreptitious 
entry “involves illegal entry and trespass.” 21 Thus, the intelligence 
community presented the nation’s highest executive official with the 
option of approving courses of action described as illegal. The fact 
that President Nixon did authorize them, even if only for five days, is 
more disquieting still.25 

TVhen Prcsidrnt Sison eventually revoked his approval of the Hus- 
ton Plan, the intelligence community nevertheless proceded to initiate 
some programs suggested in the Plan. Intelligence agencies also con- 
tinued to employ techniques recommended in the Plan, such as mail 
opening which had been used previously without presidential ap- 

I0 Angleton, g/24/75. Hearings, Vol. 2, p. 61; Howard Osborn, deposition, 
S/28/73. p. 90. 

” Gordon Stewart, g/30/75, p, 28. 
” See e.g., Howard Osborn deposition, S/2S/75. p. 89. 
22 Special Report, June 1970, p. 31. 
2X Sl)ecial Report, June 1970, p. 30. 
” Special Report, June 1970, p. 32. 
s President Nixon stated that he approved these activities in part because they 

“had been found to be effective.” (Response of Richard 11. Sison to Senate Select 
C’ommittee Interrngatory 19, 3/g/76, p. 13.) 

“For a description of the techniques which continued or were subsequently 
instituted. see pp. 115-116. 

Ai memorandum from John Dean to John Mitchell suggests that, after Presi- 
dent Sison’s relocation of approval for the Huston Plan, the White House itself 
supported the continued pursuit of some of the objectives of the Huston Plan. 
l’llrongh an iuteragenry unit known as the Intelligence Evaluation Committee. 
( JIci~~or:~~idum from John Dean to the Attorney General, 9/B/70.) In this 

Illt~liloriiii(llllil. Dean suggested the creation of such a unit for “both operational 
ant1 evaluation purposes.” He wrote in part : 

“[T~he unit can serve to make appropriate recommendations for the type of 
intelligruce that should be immediately pursued by the various agencies. In 

(Continued) 
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The recent histor?- of -1rrn~ intclligx~ncc proritlcs a11 ntl(litional es- 
ample of continning ail a&\-it\- tltwrilwd as illeg~al. Reginniilg in 
1967. the llrnir Securitv -1gciic+ ii~oniioiwl the rntlio coiiiiiliuiicntions 
of amatenr ra&o operitors in this coiultrr to determine if dissident 
elements plannctl disr77ptirc acti\-it!- at pa7?icnlnr d~nionstl.ntioiis and 
events. Bcca7lse Y1rmI- officials q1wstionfxl Tyhcthe7. s77ch monitoring 
was legal mnder Section 605 of the Federal Comnlmlications Act of 
19% they req7lested a legal opinion front the Fctlcral (‘o7llnlnnicatiolls 
Commi&on. At a nlrcting heltl in ,\ng77st 1968. the FCC adrised the 
Arm7 that wch monitoring was illegal 77nder the, _1ct. FCC repre- 
sentatives also stated that the matter had been raised Trith Attorney 
General Ramsey Clark and that hc had disapproved the program.” 
The FCC agreed. hoverer. to s7tbmit a written reply to the Armv, 
stating onlv that it could not “provide a positive anw-er to the Arm& 
proposal.” 28 

Desl,ite haviny heen told that their monitoring actiritv was illegal, 
and that the Attornev General himself disapproved it, the Army 
Security Agency continued to monitor the radio communications of 
Smerican citizens for another two vears.2” 

Several factors may explain the intelligence commnnitg’s frequent’ 
disregard of legal issnes. 

Some intelligence officials expressed the view that the legal and 
ethical restraints that applied to the rest of society simplv did not 
apply to intelligence activities. This concept is reflected in a 1959 
memoranclum on the hrmv’s covert dmg testing procram : “In intelli- 
gence, the stakes involved and the interest of national secnritp may 
permit, a inore toltmnt intrrpretation of moral-ethical valiies . . .” 3o 

As William C. Snllivan also pointed ant, many intelligence officers 
had been imbued with a “war psycholopr.” “I&alitv was not qaes- 
tionetl,” he said. “it, was not an iswe. ” M In war, one simply did what 

(Continued) 
regard to this . . point. I believe we agreed that it would be inappropriate to 
have any blanket removal of restrictions: rather. the most appropriate pro- 
cedure would be to decide on the tppe of intelligence we need, based on an 
assessment of the recommendations of this unit. and then to proceed to remove 
the restraints as necessary to obtain such intelligence.” (Dean memorandum, 
9/18 /70.) 

nllemornndum for the record by Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Tntelli- 
genre. S/16/68; Staff summary of Rql T indenbaum (former Executive Assistant 
to the Mtorner General) interview. 5/8/i5. 

28JIemnrnndum fnr the record by Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelli- 
genre. S/16/68. 

“The Army’s genwal domestic snrrr4lanre prngrnm provides an example of 
evasion of a departmental ntier which had heen issned nut of concern with 
legal issues. The practice of rnllecting vast amounts of information on American 
citizens was terminated in 1971. when new Department of Defense restrictions 
came into effect calling for the de.structinn nf all files on “unaffiliated” persons 
and organizations. Rather than destroying the files, however. several Army 
intelligence nnita pimply tnrned their intelligence files on dissident indiridnnl 
and grnnns nvw to local pnlire authc)ritiPS : and one .\ir Fnrw eonntprintelligpnce 
unit in San Diego began to rwnte new films the next year. (Hearings hefore Rnh- 
committee on Cnnstitntinnal Rights. Cnmmittw nq th@ Jndiciary. I1.S. Spnate. 
92nd Congrew, 1st swsion. 1971. n. 3297: 
HenrinTs ” phicnnn Trihwnc. 6/21/75. p. 3.) 

“Es-FBI Aid Accused in Police Spy 

aa T’SATNTC Staff Study : Material Testin? Prngram EA 1729). 19/15/59. 
31 Snlliran attrihutw mnrh of this attitnde to the molding inflnenpe of World 

War 11 won Young intelligence agents who later rose to positions nf influence in 
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one m-as ‘~cspccted to do as a soldier. ” 32 “It was 1-p~. assumption,” said 
cm2 FI31 oflicial conncctccl with the IZi1rcai1’~ mall opening programs, 
“that what we were doing was jllstifietl I)? n-list ~7 had to do.” a3 
Since the “eneni~” did not l)la?- 1)~ the rules. nioreoverY intelligence 
officials often belie\331 tlicr collld not afford to do so either.“- 

One, FBI intelligence okcer al~peared to attribute the disregard of 
the lag in the I~LWC~U'S ('OIST4',LPRO operations to simple restless- 
ness on the part of “nction-oi.icntc(I” FBI agents. George C. Jloore, 
the Racial Intelligence Section Chief, testified that : 

. . . the FBI’s connterintelligrellce program came LIP because 
if vou llnre anytlling in the FB$ you llave an action-oriented 
gro~~p of people who see somethmg happening and want to do 
something to take its place.36 

Others in the intelligence community have contended that ques- 
tionable and illegal acts were justified by a law higher than the 
ITnitrd States Code or thr Const-‘itution. ,111 FBI CoLunterintelljRrence 
Section Chief. for example. stated the following reason for believing 
in the neccssitr of techniques such as mail opening: 

The greater yood. the national security, this is correct. This 
is Tvhat I believed in. W~F I thought. these programs were 
good, it wts that the national security required this. this is 
correct.37 

Similarly, when intelli~~ence officials secured the cooperation of tele- 
grnph company esecutlres for Project SIIAUIROCI<, in which NSL4 
received millions of copies of international telegraph messages with- 
out the sender’s knowledge. the? assured the executives that they would 
not bc subjected to crinlinal habilitg because the project was “in the 
high& interests of the nation.” 38 

tile intelligence commnnitF. iSnllirnn. 11/l/75. pp. 91-95.) Disregard of the 
“niceties of law,” he stated. continued after the war had ended : 

“Along came the Cold War. We pursued the same course in the Korean War, 
and the Cold War continued. then the Vietnam War. We never freed ourselves 
from that ps.vrho1og.v that we were indoctrinated with. right after Pearl Harbor, 
you see. I think this accounts for the fact that nobody seemed to be concerned 
about raising the question is this IawIul. is this legal, is this ethical? It was just 
IifiP n wldier in the battlefield. When he shot don-n an enemy he did not aSli 
himself is this legal or lawful, is it ethical? It is what he was expected to do 
as a soldier.” 

“We did what we were expected to do. Jt became part of our thinking, a part 
of nur personality.” (Snllirnn.11/1/7S.pp.SS.9R.) 

Unfortunntely, it made too little difference xhcther the “enemy” was a foreign 
spy. a civil rights leader, nr a T’ietnam protester. 

” Sullivan, 11/l/75. p. 96. 
X3 Rranigan. 10/S/75. n. 41. 
” Staff summary of William C. Sullivan interview, 6/10/75. 
3F Moore deposition, 11/3/76. p. 79. 
3’Rranigan deposition, l/9/76. p. 41. Richard Helms referred to another kind 

of “greater good” when asked to speculate about the possible motivation of a 
CIA scientist who did not heed Presirlpnt Sison’s directive ‘to destroy all biologl- 
en1 and chemical toxins. Soting that the scientist might have “had thoughts 
allout immunization or treatment of disease where [the toxin he had devel- 
opwl1 miht lw wwful.” Helms saitl that the retention of this biologiral agent 
could be explained as “yieldinz to that human impulse of the greater good.” 
iRich:~rtl Helms testimony. S/15/75. p. S6.) 

RR Rolwrt L%ndren-s testimony 0/23/X 1,. 34 : See S.S.4 Report : “RFI.~SIROCK.” 
n.v coolwrating with the Government in SIIAJIROCK. executives of three com- 
panies chose to ignore the advice of their respective legal counsels who had recom- 

(Continued) 

68-786 0 76 II 
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Perhaps the most novel reason for advocating illegal action vas 
proffered by Tom Charles Huston. Huston explained that he believed 
the real threat to internal security was potential repressison by right- 
wing forces within t,he United States. He argued that the “Sew Left” 
was capable of producing a climate of fear that. would bring forth 
every repressive demagogue in the country. Huston believed that the 
intelligence professionals, if given the chance, could paotect the people 
from the latent forces of repression by monitoring the Ken- Left,, 
including by illegal means. 39 Illegal action directed against the New 
Left, in other words. should be used by the Government to forestall 
potential repression by the Right. 

In attempting to expIa.in why illegai activities were advocated 
and defended, the impact of the attitudes and actions of government 
officials in supervisory positions-Presidents. Cabinet officers, and 
Congressmen-should not be discounted. Their occasional endorsement 
of such a.ctivities, as well as the at.mosphere of permissiveness created 
by their emphasis on national security and their demands for results, 
clearly contributed to the notion that strict adherence to the law was 
unimportant. So, too, did the concept. propounded ]3y some senior 
officials, that a “sovereign” president may authorize rlolat.ions of the 
law. 

Vhaterer the re.asons. however. it is clear that. a number of intclli- 
gence officers ac.ted in knotting contravention of the law. 

thtb finding (d) 
Internal recognition of the ille,rrality or questionable legality of 

many of these activities frequently led to a tightening of security 
rather than to their termination. Partly to avoid exposure and a public, 
“flap.” knowledge of these programs was tightly held within the agen- 
cies. special filing procedures were used. and “corer stories” were 
devised. 

When intelligence agencies realized that certain programs and tech- 
niques were of questionable legality. they frequently took special 
security precautions to avoid public exposure. criticism. and embarrass- 
ment. The CIA’s study of student unrest throughout the world in the 
late 1960s. for example, included a section on student dissent in the 
United States, an area that was clearly outside the Agency’s statutory 
charter. DCI’s Hichard Helms urged the President’s national secu- 
rit,v advisor, Henry Kissinger. to treat it. with extreme sensivitv in 
light of the acknolrledged jurisdictional violation : 

“Herewith is a suwev of student dissidence world-lvide ‘as re- 
quested by the President. In an effort to round out our discus- 
sion of this subject, we have included a section on American 
students. This is an area not Kithin the charter of this ,4gency, 
SO I need not emphasize how extremelv sensitive this makes 
the paper. Should anvone learn of its ex’istence, it. would prove 
most embarrassing for mall concerned.” QI 

Concern for the FBI’s public image prompted security measures 
which nrotected numerous questionable activities. For example, in 

(Continued) 
mended against participation hccnuse t1le.r wnsidered the program to Ix? in 
violation of the law and FCC rrgwlations. OTemornndnm for the record, knwd 
Forces Recurit Agency. Subject : SHA\31ROCK Operation. S/2.5/.50.) 

38 Tom Charles Huston deposition, 5/22/E. p, 43: Staff Summarp of Tom 
Charles Huston interview, s/22/75. 

(o Letter from Richard Helms to Henry Kissinger, 2/18/69. 
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approving or denying COISTEI,PRO proposals, many of which were 
clearly illegal. a main consideration was prr\witing “embarrassment 
to the r~llrCR11.” 41 ,4 characteristic cantion to FBI agents appears in 
the letter which initiated the COTSTELPRO against “Black 
Sationalists” : 

You are also cautioned that the nature of this new endeavor 
is such that under no circumstances should the existence of 
the program be made known outside the Bureau and appro- 
priate within-office security should be afforded to sensitive 
operations ancl techniques considered unc1e.r the program. 

Examples of attention to such security are that anonymous letters had 
to be written on commercially lmrchased stationery; newsmen had to 
bo so completely trustworthy that they were guaranteed not. to reveal 
the Uureau’s interest ; and mquiries of law enforcement, officials had t.o 
be made under the pretext of a criminal inr-estigat,ion. 

A similar preoccupation with security measures for improper act.ir- 
itics affected both the SSA and the Army Security Sgency. 

SSA’s guiclelines for its watch list. adivit,y provided t.hat NSB’s 
name should not be on any of the disseminated watch list material 
involving Americans. The aim was to “rest,rict, the knowledge that 
such information is #being collected and processed” by NSA.“3 

The Army Security Agency’s radio monitoring activity, which con- 
tinued even after the Army was told that the FCC and the attorney 
General regarded it. as illegal, also had to be conducted in secrecy if a 
public outcry was to be avoided. When Srmy officials decided to per- 
mit radio monitoring in connection n-ith the military’s Civil Dis- 
t,urba’nce Collection Plan, t.heir instruction provided t,hat all ASA 
personnel had to be “disguised” either in civilian clot.hes or as members 
of re,#ar military units.*4 

The perceived illegality-and consequent “flap potential?‘-of the 
CIA’s Ken- York mail opening project led -4genc.y officials to for- 
mulate a drastic strategy to fallow in the event of public exposure. 
A review of the project 1,~ the Inspector General% Office in the early 
1960s concluded that it would be desirable to fabricate a “cover story.” 
A formal recommendation was therefore made that “[a]n emergency 
plan and cover story be prepared for the possibility that the operation 
might be blown.” 45 In response to this recommendation, the Deputy 
Chief of the Colmterintelligence Staff ‘agreed that. “a ‘flap’ will put 
US ‘out of business’ immecllatelv and may give rise to grave charges 
of criminal misuse of the mails by government agencies,” but he 
argued : 

‘l See COIKTELPRO Report : Sec. V, “ Outside the Bureau” memorandum ; from 
FBI Headquarters to all SAC’s, 8/26/67. 

w Buffham, 9/12/X, p. 20 ; JIIXTARET Charter, 7/l/69. 
At other times, however, NSA’s special security measures were applied to 

protect documents which concerned far more than SSA. Thus, at Richard Helms 
suggestion, Huston Plan working papers and documents were all stamped with 
legends designed to protect SSil’s lawful communications activity. although only 
a small portion of the documents actual& concerned SSA. (Unaddressed memo- 
randum, Subject : “Interagency Committee on Intelligence, Working Subcom- 
mittee, Minutes of the First 3Ieeting,” O/19/70.) 

” lkpartment of kmy Message to Subordinate Commands, 3/31/68. 
” CL4 memorandum, Subject: Inspector General’s Survey of the Office of 

Security-, Annex II, undated. 
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Since no good purpose can be served by an official admission 
of the violation. and existing Federal statutes preclude, the 
concoction of any legal excuse for the. violation, it must be 
recognized that no cover story is available to any Gol-ern- 
merit Agency. Therefore, it is important, that all Federal law 
enforcement and ITS Intelligence Agencies vigorously deny 
any association. direct or indirect, Iv-it11 any such activity as 
charged. . . . I-nless the charge is supported by the presenta- 
tion of interior items from the Project, it should be relatively 
easy to “hush up” the entire affair. or to explain that it consists 
of legal mail cover activities conducted by the Post Office at 
the request of authorized Federal agencies. Under the most 
unfavorable circumstances . . . it might be necessary after the 
matter has cooled off during an extended period of inresti- 
gation? to find a scapegoat to blame for unauthorized ta.mper- 
ing wnh the mails. Such cases by their very nature do not 
have much appeal to the imagination of the public, and this 
would be an effective way to resolve the initial charge of 
censorship of the mails.46 

This strategy of complete denial and transferring blame to a scape- 
goat was approved by the Director of Security in February 19RL4’ 

Another extreme example of a security measure t.hat was adopted be- 
cause of the threat, that illegal activity might be e.xposed was the out.- 
right destruction of files. 

The FBI developed a special filing system-or, more accurately. a 
destruction system-for memoranda written about illegal techniques, 
such as break-ins,@ and highly questionable operations, such as the mi- 
crophone surveillance of .Joseph ICraft.‘” T’nder this system-which 
was referred to as the “DO SOT FILE” procedure-authorizing doc- 
uments and other memoranda were filed in special safes at headquarters 
and field offices until the next annual inspection by the Inspection Di- 
vision. at which time they were to be systematically destroyed.50 

* AJIemorandum from Deputy Chief, CI Staff, to Director Office of Security, 
2/l/62. 

‘7 Memorandum from Sheffield Edwards, Director of Security, to Deputy Di- 
rector for Support. 2/21/62. 

‘* Memorandum from TV. C. Sullivan to C. D. DeLoach. 7/19/66. The same docu- 
ment that describes the annlication of the “DO XOT FILE” nrocrdure to “black 
bag jobs” also notes that Before a break-in could be approrecl within the FBI, the 
Special Agent in Charge of the field office had to assure headquarters that it 
could be accomplished without “embarrassment to the Bureau.” (Sullivan memo- 
randum. ‘7/19/t% 1 

An isolated’instance of file destruction apparently occurred in th? Los Angeles 
o&x of the Internal Rer-enne Service in December 1974, at a time when Con- 
gressional investigation of the intelligence agencies was imminent. This office had 
roliected large amounts of essentially political information regarding black mil- 
itants and political activists. In Tiolatiou of internal document destruction pro- 
cedures the files were destroyed prior to their proposed review 1)s IRS author- 
ities. See IRS Report; Sec. IV. ‘The Information Gathering and Retrieval Sys- 
tem” ; Staff Summary of interview with Chief, IRS Division, Los Angeles, 8/l/75. 

” For example, letters from W’. C. Sullivan to J. Edgar Hoover, F/30/69. ‘7/2/69, 
7/3/69, i/7/69. These letters lvere sent to Hoover from Paris, where Sullivan 
roordinated the Kraft surveillance. All of them bear the notation “DO SOT 
FILE. ” 

~“JIemorandun~ from W’. C. Sullivan to C. D. Deloach, 7/19/66. 
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on occasion, intelligence agencies failed to disclose candidly pro- 
grams ant1 practices to their own General Counsels, and to Attorney 
Cherals, Presidents, and Congress. 

(i) Concenlnzcnt Jt*om Exccutizx Rmid~ Oficids 
Intelligence officers frequently concra.lrd or niisrrpresentetl illegal 

act,ivities to their own General Counsel and superiors within and ont- 
side the agtncies in order to protect these actix?ties from exposure. 

For example, during the entire N-year history of the CLl’s mail 
opening project, the Agency’s General Counsel was never informed of 
its existence. ,Iccording to one Agency official, this knowledge was 
purposefully kept from him. Former Inspector General Gordon Stew- 
art testified : 

Well, I am sure that it was held back from [the General 
Counsel] on purpose. ,4n operation of this sort in the CL4 is 
run-if it is closely held, it is run by those people immediately 
concerned, ancl to the extent’ that it, is really possible, accord- 
ing to the practices that we had in the fifties and sixties, those 
persons not immediately concerned were supposed to be 
ignorant of iL51 

The evidence, also indicates that two Directors of Central Intelli- 
gence under whom the Sew York mail operations continued-John 
McCone and Admiral Raborn-were never informed of its existence.” 
In 1954, Postmaster General arthur Summerfield was informed that 
the CIA operated a mail cover project in New York, but he was not 
told that the Agency opened or intended to open any mail.” In 1965, the 
CIA briefly considered informing Postmaster General John A. Gro- 
nouski about t.he project when its existence was felt to be jeopardized 
by a congressional subcommittee that was investigating the use of mail 
covers and other investigative techniques by federal agencies. Accord- 
ing to an internal memorandum, however, the idea was quickly re- 
jected “in view of various statements by Gronouski before this sub- 
committee.” 54 Since Gronouski had agreed with the subcommittee that 
tighter administrat.ive controls on mail covers were necessary and gen- 
erally supported the principle of the sanctity of the mail, it is reason- 
able to infer that CIA officials assumed he would not be sympathetic 
to the technique of mail opening.” 

” Gordon Stewart, 9/30/Z?, p. 29. 
52 M&one, 10/g/75, pp. 34; Angleton. g/17/75, p. 20; Osborn, 10/21/75; Hear- 

ings, Vol. 4. p. 38. 
M Memorandum from Richard Helms to Director of Security, 5/17/74 ; Helms, 

10/X2/75. Hearings, Vol. 4, p. 84. By the CIA’s own account, moreover, at most 
only three Cabinet-level officials may hare been told about the mail opening as- 
pects of this project. Each of these three-Postmasters General J. Edward Day 
and Winton 11. Blount, and Attorney General John Mitchell-dispute the Agen- 
cy’s claim. (Day. 10/22/75, Hearings, Vol. 4, p. 45; Blount. 10/22/75, Hearings, 
Yol. 4, p. 47 ; Xitchell, 10/2/75. pp. 13-14.) 

oI Blind memorandum from “CIA Officer.” 4/23/t%. 
;“‘lbid. Mr. Gronouski testified as follows about the CIAl’s successful attempt 

to keep knowledge of the Sew York project from him : 
“When this news [about CIA mail opening] broke [in 19731. I thought it was 

incredible that a person in a top position of responsibility in Government in an 
agency should have something of this sort that is very illegal going on within 
his on-n agency and did not know about it. It is not that I did not try to know 
about these things. I think it is incumbent upon anybody at the top office to try 
to know everything that goes on in his organization.” (Gronouski, 10/22/75, 
Hearings, Vol. 4 p. 44.) 
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The only claim that any President may hare known about the proj- 
ect was made bv Richard Helms, who testified that “there was a pos- 
sibility’! that he “mentioned” it to President Lyndon Johnson in i967 
or 1968.“” So docluiientar;v evidence is available that either supports 01 
refutes this statement. During the preparation of the Hust.on Plan, 
neither CL1 nor FBI representatives informed Tom Charles Huston, 
President Sison’s representative, that the mail opening project, 
existed. The final interagency report on the Huston Plan s@e.d by 
Richard Helms and J. Edgar Hoover, was sent to the President with 
the st.atement, contrary to fact, that all mail opening programs by 
federal agencies had been discontinued.5i 

In connection wit,h another CIh mail opening project, middle-level 
Agency officials apparently did not even tell their own superiors with- 
in the CIA that they intended to open mail, as opposed to merely in- 
specting envelope exteriors. The ranking oflicixls testified that they 
approved t.he project believing it to be a mail cover program only.“’ 
No Cabinet officials or President knew of this project and the approval 
of the Deputy Chief Postal Inspector (for what he also beheved to 
be a mail cover operation) was secured through conscious decepti0n.j” 

A pattern of concealment was repeated by the FBI in their mail 
opening programs. There is no claim by the Bureau that any Post- 
master General, Attorney Genera!, or President was ever advised of 
the true nature and scope of its mall projects. One FBI official testified 
that it was an unofficial Bureau policy not to inform postal officials 
with whom they dealt of the actual intention of FBI agents in receiv- 
ing the mail, and there is no indication that this policy was ever 
violated.GO At one point in 1965, Assistant Director Alan Belmont and 
Inspector Donald Moore apparently informed Attorney General 
Nicholas deB. Katzenbach that FBI agents received custody of the 
mail in connection with espionage cases on some occasions.G1 But 
Moore testified that the Attorney General was not told that mail was 
actually opened. When asked if he felt any need to hold back from 
Katzenbach the fact of mail openings as opposed to the fact that Bu- 
reau agents received direct access to the mail, Moore replied : 

It is perhaps difficult to answer. Perhaps I could liken it 
to . . . a defector in place in the KGB. You don’t want to tell 
anybody his name, the location, the title, or anything like 
that. Sot that you don’t trust them completely, but the fact 

m Helms, 10/23/73, pp. 28,3&U. 
” Special Report, p. 29. Richard Helms testified as follows about this inaccu- 

rate statement: 
“ the only explanation I have for it was that this applied entirely to the 

FBi g;d had nothing to do with the CIA, that we never Bdrertised to this Com- 
mittee or told this Commitlee that this mail operation Gas going on, and there 
was no intention of attf&inP to a lie. .” 

“And if I signed this t&g, then maybe I didn’t read it carefully enough.” 
“There was no intention to mislead or lie to the President.” (Helms. 10/22/73, 

Hearings Vol. 4. D. 95). 
jb Hokard Osbkn, k/28/75, pp. 58, 59 ; Thomas Karamessines, 10/s/75, p. 12 : 

Richard Helms, g/10/75, p. 127. 
” For example, Chief, Security Support Division memorandum, 12/24/74 ; 

Memorandum from C/TSD/CCG/CRB to the file, 3/26/69; memorandum from 
C/TSD/CCG/CRB to the file. 9/X/69. 

‘Bo Doliald E. Xoore, 10/l/75, p.’ i9. 
El Moore, 10/l/75, p. 31; Katzenbach, 12/3/i& Hearings, vol. 6, pp. 204, 205. 



is that any tinie one additional person lvxoincs aware of it, 
there is a potential for the information to . . . go further.“’ 

Another Burexii agent spwilat~d that tht Attom~ Gcm?lxl v-a!: 

not told lwcaasc mail opening “was 11ot legal, as far as I 1<11ew: lx 

Similarlv, there is no incbcation that the FBI ever infornietl any 
.1ttorncy i+eneral about its use of “black bag jobs” (illegal break-ins 
for purposes other than microplione installations) ; the full scope of 
its activities in COISTELPRO: or its submission of names for inch- 
sion on either the CIA’s “Watch List” for mail opening or. before 1073, 
on the SSA’s YVatch List” for electronic monitoring of international 
coinmuiiicatioiis.G~ 

After J. Edgar Hoover disregarded Attorney General Biddle’s 
1043 order to terminate the Custodral Detention Lrst by merely chang- 
ing its name to the Security Index moreover, Bureau headquarters 
instructed the field oflicers that the new list should be kept “strictly 
confidential” and that it should never be mentioned in FBI reports or 
“discussed with agencies or individuals outside the Bureau” except for 
military intelligence agencies. For several years thereafter, t.he Attor- 
ney General and the ,Justico Department Jverc not informed of the 
FBI’s decision.65 

An incident, which occurred in 1967 in connection with the Bureau’s 
COISTELPRO operations is particularly illustrative of the lengths to 
which intelligence agencies would go to protect illegal pro.granis from 
scrutiny by executive branch officers outside the intelligence conl- 

mu&y. As one phase of its disruption of the United Klans of America, 
the Bureau sent, a letter to Klan officers purportedly prepared by the 
highly secret “Sational Intelligence Committee” (NC) of the Klan.GF 
The fake, letter purported to fire the Sorth Carolina Grand Dragon 
for personal misconduct and misfeasance in office, and to suspend 
Imperial l\‘izard Robert Shelton for his failure to remove the Grand 
Dragon. Shelton complained to the FBI and the Post Office about, 
this apparent violation of the mail fraud statutes--\~itliout realizing 
that the Bureau had in fact sent the letter.“’ The Bureau, after 
solemnly assuring Shelton that his complaint xx.5 not within the 
FBI’s Juristliction, approached the Chief Postal Inspector?+ o&e in 
Washington to determine what action the Post Ofice planned to take 
regarding Shelton’s allegation. The FBI was ad\-ised that the matter 
had been referred to the Justice Department’s Criniinal Division.“* 
.1t no time did the Bureau inform either the Post OfFwe or the .Justicr 
1)epartment that FBI agents had authored the letter. T\‘hen no investi- 
gation was deenied to be warranted by the Criminal Division, FBI 
Headquarters directed the Bureau’s Charlotte, Sort11 Carolina office 
to prepare a. second phony SIC letter to send to Klan officia1s.F” This 

‘*Moore 10/l/%, p. 48. See Mail Report : Sec. IV, “S*ature and Value of the 
Product Receiwd.” 

“I FBI went testimonr. 10/10/75. n. HO. 
--A--~ 

” See Ski Report : S%. II. “Summary of SSA Watch List Activity.” 
G Memorandum from a. Edgar IIoorer to FBI Field Offices, X/14/43. 
” Jlemorandum from Atlanta Field Office to FBI Headquarters. 6/7/67. 
“’ Memorandum from Birmingham Field Office to FBI Headquarters, 6/14/G. 
R9 I’ostal officials told Bureau liaison that since Shelton’s alleviations “aplwar 

to inrolw an intcrnnl struggle for control of Ku Klux Klan activities in Sort11 
(‘arolimt ant1 since the eridGnce of mail frnntl was somewlmt tenuous in nature, 
the I’ost Office did not contenil~late any investigation.” ( JIeniori~nduni from Spe- 
cial A\gent to I). .J. Brennan. C/11/G. 1 Hat1 tlic FBI informed the Post Office 
tlmt Burrnu agents had written the letter, it w)nld hnre been apparent that 
Shcltnu‘s allegations \yerc mt based on nn “internal struggle” within the KKK. 

BB Memorandum from FBI Headquarters to Charlotte Field Office, S/21/67. 
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letter was not mailed. however, because the Charlotte office propoSed 

ant1 iu~l~lenientctl a tliffercnt idea-the formation of an FBI-controlled 
alternatire Klan organization, which eventually attracted 2.50 
niembers.‘” 

The Huston Plan itself was prepared without the kno\rledge of the 
,ittorncT General. Keither the ,\ttorneF General nor anyone in his 
office wa’s invited to the drafting sessions at Langley or consulted dur- 
ing the proceedings. Huston testified that it never occurred to him 
to confer with the Attorney General before making the recommen- 
dat.ions in the Report, in part because. the plan was seen as an in- 
telligence matter to be handled by the intelligence agency directors.71 

Similarly. the CI,\‘s General Counsel was not included or consulted 
in the formulation of the Huston Plan. As James Angleton testified. 
“the custom and usage was not to deal \Tith the General Counsel, as a 
rule, until there were some troubles. He was not a part of the process 
of project approval.” 73 

(ii) Concea,lnwnt frown ColLgress 
At times, knowledge of illegal programs and techniques has been 

concealed from Congress as well as executive branch officials. On two 
occasions, for example, officials of the Army Security +gency ordered 
its units-in apparent violation of that, ,4gency’s jurlsdlction-to con- 
duct general searches of the radio spectrum without regard to the 
source or subject matter of the transmissions. ASh did not report these 
incidents to ranking -1rniy officials. even when specifically asked to do 
so as part of the Armv’s preparation for the hearings of the Senate 
Subcommittee on Cons&tutional Rights in 1971.7’ 

Events surrounding the 1965 and 1966 investigation by Senator Ed- 
ward Long of Missouri into federal agencies’ use of mail covers and 
other investigative techniques clearly showed the desire on the part of 
CIA and FBI officials to protect their programs from congressional 
review.75 Fearing that the Xew York mail opening program might be 
discovered by this subcommittee, the CIA considered suspending the 
operation until the investigation had been completed. An internal 
CL4 memorandum elated April 23: 1965, reads in part : 

Mr. Karamessines [Assistant, Deputy Director for Plans] 
felt that the dangers inherent in Long’s subcommittee activi- 

ia Memorandum from Charlotte Field Office to FBI Headquarters 8/22/67. 
” Huston, 9/23/i’& Hearings, Vol. 2, p. 24. 
When J. Edgar Hoover informed Attorney General John Mitchell about the 

Report on July 27, 1970, Mitchell objected to its proposals and influenced the 
Preside& to withdraw his original approral. 

According to John Xitchell, he believed that the proposals “were inimical to 
the best interests of the country and certainly should not be something that the 
President of the United States should be allproving.” (John Mitchell testimony, 
10/24/75. Hearings, Vol. 4, p. 2.3.) 

” James A4ngleton. g/24/73. Hearings. Vol. 2. n. 77. 
” See Milit<rs Surveillance Repori :’ Sec. I, -‘I Improper Surveillance of Private 

Citizens by the Military” ; Inspector General Report, Department of the Army, 
1/3/i2. 

I5 The .Johnson Administration itself attempted to restrict the Long Subcom- 
mittee’s investigation into national seewitS matters, although there is no indica- 
tion that this attempt was motivated bg a desire to protect illegal activities. 
(E.g., Memorandum from -4. H. Belmont to Mr. Tnlson. 2/25/66; memorandum 
from J. Edgar Hoover to Messrs. Tolson, Belmont, Gale, Rosen, Sullivan, and 
DeLoach, 3/2/65.) 
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ties to tile security of the I’roj,ect’s operations in Sew York 
should bc tlioro~ighly Atlied in ortler tiiat II clcternlin;ltioi1 
Cm1 be lnadc as to whether tliese operations ~liould be partially 
01’ fully suspended until the 5nbcommittec’s investigations arc 
con~l~letecl.7F 

When it w-as lenrnecl that Chief Postal Tnspwtor TIrnl:y Montague 
had been contacted about the Long invwti.gntion ant1 bclirve~l that it 
K-0111d “s0011 cool oRf”. hole\-er. it v-as tlecitlrtl to c.ontiniw the opera- 
tion without susl~ension.7i 

The FT3I was also concerned tililt the slibcoinnlittcc lllight expose its 
llulil opening progran~s. I~urrau memoranda indicate that the FBI in- 
trntlrtl to “warn the T,ong (‘ommittee nwaz from ,thosc areas which 
n-ould be injrlrious to the national defense. ;’ .J. Edgar 11001~cr l>e~‘- 
sonall\- contacted the (‘hairman of the Senate ,Judiciary (‘ommittee.” 
and u<ged him “to see T,ong not later than Veclnesday morning to cau- 
tion him that [the Chief (‘onnwl] must not, go into the kind of ques- 
tion he made of Chief Inspector Montague of the Post Mice T)epar- 
merit” 80 -questioning that had threatened to rcwal the FBI’s mail 
l)rojrct the previous wwk.S1 

When the Long subcommittee began to investigate electronic sur- 
veillance practices several iiiontlis later: I3wcau officials convinced 
Senator Edv~~rtl T,onp that there n-as no need to 1~1rsuc such an in- 
vestigation since, the\- snitl. tlic FHT’s operations were tightly con- 

trolled and properly iinplementecl. 82 According to Bureau documents, 
FT31 agents wrote a press release for t!lc Senator from ;\Iissollri, with 
his npproval, that stated his snbconimittee had 

contlucted exhausti\-c research into the activities, procedures, 
and techniques of this agency [and] lwsecl upon careful stud?- 
. . . n-c are fall!- satisfied that the FE1 has not participated 111 
highliai~ded or uncontrolled uhage of wiretaps. niicrol~lionrs. 
or other electronic equil>nient.h” 

Sot 0111~ w:ts this rcle:w written by the FBT itself, it was misleading. 
‘I’ll0 “r&iisti\-c research” apparently consistecl of a ninety-minute 
briefing b\- FM officials describing their electronic surreillnnce prW- 
tices; neiilier the Senator nor the public learned of the instances of 
improper electronic survcillanccs that had been conducted by the 
I’BI.$’ Khen Senator Etl~arcl Long later asked certain FBI officials 
to testify about the Hurean’s electronic surreillanw policy before the 
Subcommittee. they refused. arguing: “. . . to put an FBI wtness on the 

” Blind memorandum from “CL1 Officer,” a/23/65. 
” Ibid. 
‘a Jlemomndum from A. II. Belmont to Xr. Tolson, 2/27/65. 
m Memorandum from J. Edgar Hearer to JIessrs. Tolson. Belmont. Gale, Rosen, 

Sullivan. and DeLoach, 3/l/65. 
” JIen~orandun~ from J. Edgar Hoover to Messrs. Tolson, Belmont, Gale, Rosen, 

Sullivan. and DeLoach 3/l/66. 
” Mail Rrllort Part IV. Sec. TII, “Concern with Exposure.” At the time of his 

testimony Iwfore the Long Sul~committre. Chief Postal Inspector Montague knew 
of ongoing FBI projerts in which Bureau agents received custody of the mail. 
but he was apparently unaware that these projects involved mail openings. 

“For examnle. Mrmornndum from C. D. DeLoacli to JIr. Tolson. l/10/66. 
” JIemoraudnm from 11. A. *Jones to Mr. Wick, Attachmen’r, l/11/66. 
v See pp. 62-65. 105, 203-206 for a description of some of these improper 

surveillances. 
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stand w-oultl be, an attempt to open a Pandora’s box, insofar as OLU 

enemies in the press were concerned. . . .” 85 
-1fter the press release had been delivered to Senator Long and 

the refusal to testify had htrn acceptetl. one FBI official wrote to the 
-1ssociate Director that while some l~~~ol~lrms still existed. “we have 
nentralized the threat of being embarrassed by the Long Snbcom- 
mittee . . .” s6 

8rsbfincling (f) 

The internal inspection mechanisms of the CIA and the FBI did 
not keep-and. in the case of the FBI, were not designed to keep-the 
activities of those agencies within legal bounds. Their primary concern 
was efficiency. not legalit,y or propriety. 

The internal inspection mechanisms of the CT,1 and the FBI were 
ineffective in ensuring that the activities of these agencies were kept 
within legal bounds. This failure was sometimes dne to structural 
deficiencies which kept knowledge of rli~cstionable programs tightI,! 
compartmented and shielded from those who could eralnate the11 
legality. 

As noted above,, for example, the CIA’s General Counsel was not 
informed about either the Sew York mail opening project or CIA’s 
participation in the Huston Plan deliberations. The role of the CIA’s 
General Connsel was essentially a passive one; he did not initiate 
inquiries bnt, responded to requests from other Agency components. 
As James Angleton stated, the General Connsel was not a part of 
the normal project. approval process and generally was not consulted 
imtil “something was going wrong.” 8i 

When the General Counsel was consulted, he often exerted a posi- 
tive influence on the conduct of CIA1 activities. For example, the CIA 
stopped monitoring telephone calls to and from Latin ,%merica after 
the General Connsel issued an opinion describing the telephone inter- 
cepts as illegal.“” Bnt internal CL1 regulations have never required 
employees who know of illegal, improper. or questionable activities 
to report them to the General Counsel; rather! employes with sucli 
knowledge are instructed to inform either the Director of Central 
Intelligence or the Inspector Ge,neral. The Director and the Inspector 
General may refer the matter to the General Counsel but nntil recently 
t,liey were not obligated to (10 ~0.~~~ As Richard Helms stated. “Somc- 
times we did [consult the General (‘o~mscl] ; sometimes we did not. 1 
think the record OJI that is rather spotty, quite frankly.!’ 89 

Intleed, the record snpgests that those program.5 that were most 
qnestion:lble-sncll as the Sew York mail opening project and Project 
CHAOS-were not referred to the General Counsel because they were 

gj Jlemoraudum from C. D. DeLoach to Mr. Tolson, l/21/66. 
R” DeLoach memorandum, l/21/66. This incident also illustrates that Congress 

has at times permitted itself to he “neu’tralized.” The general reluctance of 
Congress to discharge its responsibilities toward intelligence agencies is dis- 
cussed at pp. 27i-281. 

hi James Angleton. 9/1i/'i5. D. 48. 
w Memorandum from Lawrence Houston to Acting Chief, Division D, l/29/73. 
5R’ Proposed regulations drafted in response to Executive Order 11905 (Mnrclt 

1976) require the Inspector General to refer “all legal matters” to the Office of 
General Counsel. (Draft Reg. HR l-3.) 

SO Helms deposition, g/10/55, p. 59. 



considered extremely sfnsitive.~‘” Even when questionable activities 
xero called to the at’trntion of the General Counsel: moreover. the in- 
ternal Agency regulations tlicl not guarantee him unrestrictetl access 
to all relevant information. Thus, the General Counsel was not in a 
position to condnct a complete evaluation of the propriety of pal.- 
titular progranis. 

Part of the failure of internal kpection to terminate improper pro- 
warns and practices mar be attributed to the fact that, the primar) 
?ocus of the CIA’s Of& of the Inspector General and the FBI’s In- 
spection Dir-ision has been on efficiency ant1 effectiveness rather than 
on proprietr. 

The CIA’s Insprotor General is charged with the respons~ibility. 
:w~~ng ot1lr.r mattclr+ of in\-rstiFating activities which might be COP 
strued as ‘*illegal. improper. and outside the C’IA’s lcgislatirc 
~hartcl~.” gL In at least one (aasc, the Inspector General did force the 
suspension of a suspcat activity : the snrrcpt,itious atlministra,tion of 
LSD to unwitting, non-rolimteer. himinn subjects which was sus- 
pended in 1963. 92 An earlier Inspector General’s review of the larger, 
more general program for the testing of b&a\-orial control agents. 
however. had labeled that program ‘Wnethical and illegal” and it none- 
theless continued for another seven ytar~.~‘~ In general, as the Rocke- 
feller <Iommission pointed out. “the focus of the Inspector General 
~omponrnt review3 was on operational efiectivciiess. Examination of 
the legality or propriety of CL1 activities was riot normally a primar;y 
('011c.c1'11.' ” y4 Two separate reviews of the Sew York mail opening pro]- 
rcts by the Inspector tieneral’s ofice. for example, considered issues 
of administration and sccurit3 at length but did not even mention 
legal collsiderations.3S 

Internal inspect’ion at, Ithe FBI has traditionally not encompas.sed 
legal Or ethical questions at all. According to W. JlClrli Felt, the As. 
sistant. mr IJirec!:or in charge of the Inspect’ion I)ivision from 1964 to 
1971, his job was to ensure that 13urean prog~~n~ were being opera&et1 
efliciently. not, corlstiltiltioliallS : “There was no instruction to me,” she 
stated. “nor tlo I belie-r-e there is any instruction in the Inspector’s 
manuals, ‘that inspectors shonltl be 0L the alert to see that constit.u- 
tional values are beling protectetl.” g6 IIe could not recall any program 
which was terminate~l because it might have been violating someone’s 
c.ivil righkg7 

‘” Gordon Stewart deposition, 4/30/X, 1,. 29 ; Rockeller Commission Report, 
p. 146; Report on the Offices of the General Couusel and Inspector General : The 
General Counsel’s Responsibilities, 9/30/75, p. 29. 

” Regulation HR 7-k (6). 
” Jlemorandum for the Record by J. S. Earman, Inspector General, 11/29/63 : 

Memorandum from Helms to DCI. 11/9/M. 
h? 19X LG. Inspection of the Tedhnical Services Division. 
w Rockefeller Commission Report, G/G/X, p. S9. 
” Jlemorandum from L. Ii. Tvhite, Deputi Director for Support, to Acting In- 

wector General, Attachment. 3/g/62 : blind mrmorandum. undated (19691. The 
Ikwector General under whoke’a&pices the second revi& WM cond&~d stated 
‘* [Ol f course we knew that this was illegal.” but he believed that it was “un- 
nerrssary” to raise the matter of its illegality with Director Helms “since every- 
I)ody kuex that it xvas [illegal] and it didn’t wcm . . . that I would be telling 
Mr. Helms anything that he dicln’t know.” (Gordon Stewart, S/30/75, p. 32.) 
1). 3’2. i 
- wI W. Mark Felt testimony, Z/3/75, lx 66. 

*’ Felt, 2/3/i& p. 57. 
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A number of questionable FBI programs were apparently never in- 
spected. Felt could recall no inspection, for instance. of either the FBI 
mail opening programs or the Bureau’s participation in the CIA’S 

1y Sew York mail opening project., Even when improper programs 
were inspected, the Inspection Division did not attempt to exercise 
oversight in the sense of looking for wrongdoing. Its responsibility 
was snnplv to ensure that FBI policy, as defined by J. Edgar IIoovel 
was effectively implemented and not to question the propriety of the 
policy.99 Thus, Felt testified that if, in the course of an inspection of a 
field office, he discovered a microphone surveillance on Martin Luther 
King, Jr., the only questions he would ask were whether iit had been 
approved by the Director and whether the procedures had been prop- 
erlv followed.100 

iThen Felt was asked whether the Inspection Division con- 
ducted any investigation into the propriety of COISTELPRO, the 
following exchange ensuecl : 

Mr. FELT. Soft into the propriety. 
Q. So in the case of COIKTELPRO, as in the case of 

SSA interceptions, your job as Inspector was to determine 
whether the program was being pursued e.ffectively as op- 
posecl to \vhether it was proper ? 

Mr. FELT. Right., with this exception, that in any of these 
siituations, Counterintelligence Program or whatever:. it very 
frequently happened that the inspectors, in revie\ving jthe 
files, wo~dcl direct thalt a certain investigation be discont’mued, 
that, i:t was not productive, or that there was some reason that 
it, be discontinue.d. 

But I don’t recall any cases being discontinued in the 
Cotmterintelligence program.101 

As ,a result of this role clefinition. ,the Inspection Division became an 
active participant in some of the most questionable FBI programs For 
example, it was responsible for reviewing on an annual basis all memo- 
randa relating to illegal break-ins prior to their destruction under the 
“DO XOT FILE!’ procedure. 

Improper programs and t.echniques in the FBI were protected not 
only by t.he Inspection Division’s perceptlion of its function, but also 
by the maxim that FBI agents shoulcl never “embarrass the Bureau.” 
This standard, which served as a shield to outside scrutiny, was 
explicitly reflecte.d in the FBI Manual : 

Any investigation necessary, to develop complete essent,ial 
facts regarding any allegation against Bureau employees 
must be mstitutcd promptly: and every logical lead wh~h 
Tvill establish the true facts should be completelv run out 
unless su,ch act&m u~ulcl em3nrrus.s fhf: Bureau . . 1 in which 
event the Bureau will weigh the facts, along with the recom- 
mendations of t.he division head. [Eml~hnsisadded.]‘O* 

” Felt, 2/3/75, pp. 54, 55. 
m Felt, 2/3/75, pp. 59-60. 
I* Felt, 2/3/75, p. 60. 
‘01 Felt, 2/3/75, pp. 56, 57. 
lo2 When asked about this Nunual provision, Attorney General Ed\vard Levi 

stated : 
“I do believe . some further explanation is in order. First, the Bureau in- 

forms me that the provision has not been interpreted to mean that an inrestiga- 
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Such an instruction. couplet1 with the lnspwtion Division’s inattell- 
tion to the law: could only inhibit or prevent thr trrminat.ion ant1 es- 
posure of illegal practicr5. 

8u~bfinclitzg (g) 

When senior administration officials with a duty to control domestic 
intelligence activities knew, or had a basis for suspecting, that ques- 
tionable activities had occurred, they often responded with silence or 
approval. In certain cases, they were presented with a partial descrip- 
tion of a program but did not ask for details, thereby abdicating their 
responsibility. In other cases, they were fully aware of the nature of 
the practice and implicitly or explicitly approved it. 

On several occasions, senior administration officials with a duty to 
control domestic intelligence activities were supplied with partial 
details about questionable or illegal programs but they did not ask 
for additional information and the programs continued. 

Sometimes the failure to probe further stemmed from the admin- 
istration official’s assumption that an intelligence agency \yonld not 
engage in lawless conduct. Former Chief Postal Inspector Henry 
Montague, for example, was aware that the FBI received custody 
of the mall in connection with several of its mail opening programs- 
indeed, he had approved such custody in one case-but he testified 
that he believed these were mail cover operations only.1o3 Montague 
stated that he did not ask FBI officials if the Bureau opened mail 
because he : 

never thought that n-ould be necessary. . . . I trusted them 
the same as I would another [Postal] Inspector. I would 
never feel that I would have to tell a Postal person ,that you 
cannot open mail. By the same token, I would not consider 
it necessary to emphasize it to any great degree with the 
FBI.lo4 

A former FBI official has also testified, as noted above, that he 
informed Attorney General Katzenbach about selected aspects of the 
FBI mail opening programs. This official did not tell Katzenbach 
that mail was actually opened, but he testified that he “pointed out 
[to the Attorney General] that we do receive mail from the Post 
Office. in certain sensitive areas.‘: lo5 While Katzenbach stated that he 
never knelt mail was opened or that the FBI gained access to mail 
on a regular basis in large-scale operat,ions,106 the former Attorney 

tbon should not take place and that hny interpreCation that an investigation 
would not be instituted because of the possihili’ty of embarrassment to the Bureau 
was never intended and, in fact, has never been the policy of this Bureau.’ I am 
told that ‘what was intended to be conveyed was that in such eventuality FBI 
Headquarters desired to be advised of the matter before investigation is in- 
stituted so that Headquarters would be on notice and could direct the inquiry, 
if necessary.’ ” 

“Second, the manual provision dates back to March 30, 1%55.” 
“YlJhird, I am informed by the Bureau th,at ‘immediate steps are ‘being taken to 

remove that phraseology from our Manual of Rules and Regulations.’ ” 
f Letter from Attorney General Levi to Senator Richard Schmeiker, 11/10/‘75.) 

loa Henry Montague testimony, 10/2/75, pp. 55, ‘71. 
‘01 Henry Montague, 10/2/75, pp. E-16. 
I05 Donald Moore, 10/l/75. p. 31. 
lo8 Nicholas Katzenbach. 10/11/75, p. 35. 
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General acknowledged that he did learn that. ‘*in some cases the out- 
side of mail might have been examined or even l~liotogral~l~ed bv 
persons other than Post Oflice eml~loyecs’~.107 IIowercr. neither at this 
time nor at, any other time did the ,Justice Dcpa14tment make any 
inquiry to determine the full scope of the FBI mail operations. 

Similarly-, former Attorneys General Sicholns Katzenbnch and Rnm- 
sey Clark testified that they were familiar with the FBI’s efforts to 
disrupt the Ku Klux Klan through regular investigative techniques 
but said ther were unan-are of the ofl’ensive tactics that occurred 
in COIKTEiPRO. Katzenbach said he did not believe it neces- 

sary to explore possible irregularities since “[iIt never occurred to 
me t.hat the Bureau would engage in the sort, of sustainetl imprope] 
activity which it apparently did.” lo8 

Both Robert Kennedy and Nicholas Katzenbach were also aware of 
some aspects of the FBI’s investigation of I)r. Martin Luther King, 
Jr., yet neither ascertained the full details of the Bureau’s campaign to 
discredit the civil rights leader. Kennedy intensified the original “com- 
munist influence” investigation in October l!X3 b\- nuthorlzing wire- 
taps on King’s home and office telephones. 1~ KenKeclv requested that 
an e.raluation of the results be submitted to him & thirty days in 
order to determine whether or not to maintain the taps, but the erxlua- 
tion was never deli\-wed to him and he did not insist on it.*‘O Since 
he never ordered the termination of the wiretap, the Bureau could, 
and did, install additional wiretaps on King by invoking the original 
aut~l~ori7ation.*11 According to Bureau memoranda apparently ini- 
tialled by Attorney Genepal Katzenbach, KatzenbaA received after 
the fact notification in 1Otij that three bugs had been planted in 
Dr. King’s h&e1 rooms.*1* h t.ransmittal memorandum \I-ritten by 

loi Katzenbach statement, 12/3/i5, Hearings, Vol. 6, p. 205. 
1(16 Katzenbach testimony, 12/3/Z, Hearings, Vol. 6, p. 207: Ramsey Clark, 

12/3/75 ; Hearings. Vol. 6 p. 235 ; KatzenbacT’s and Clark’s knowledge of disrup- 
tire owxations is discussed at greater lencth in Finding G : “Deficiences in Con- 
trol and Accountability” p. 265.- 

lee Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to the Attorney General, 10/7/63; 
memorandum from J. Edwr Hoover to the Attornev General.~lb/lP/63. 

‘lo Memorandum fromk. A. Ernns to Mr. Bel&nt 10/21/63. 
In May 1961, Robert IiennedF also became aware of the CIA’s use of organized 

crime figures in connection with “clandestine efforts” against the Cuban gorern- 
merit. (Memorandum from J. Edear Hoover to the Attorner General. 5/22/61.) 
But he‘did not instruct the CIA-to terminate its involvement with &~erkorld 
figures either at tha’t time or in Jlay 196% when he learned at a briefing by CIA 
officials that an assassination attemPt had occurred. Accordinz tn the CIA’s Grn- 
era1 Counsel, who parkipated in the 1962 briefing, I<(ennedy o&y said, I‘. . . if we 
were going to get involved with Mafia personnel again he wanted to be informed 
first.” (Lawrence Houston deposition, 6/2/L?, 11. l-2.) 

The CIA’s use of underworld fi~ires clearlv nosed nroblems for the FBI’s on- 
going investigation of organized &me in thh~nited States, which had in large 
part been initiated by AUorneF General Kennedy himself. (Senate Select Com- 
mittee. “hllrged Assassination Plots Involving Foreign Leaders,” pp. 12>129.) 

‘I1 The FBI institutti additional wiretaps on King on four separate occasions 
between 1964 and 1965. Since .Justice Department policy before March 1965 
imposed no limit on the durati,on of wiretaps and they were approved by ‘the 
Attorney General. the Bureau claimed that the King tans \T-ere iustified as a con- 
tinuation oP the tap originally authorized by Iienn&ly in Cktob& 1963. (For es- 
ample. mrmorandum from FBI Ilmdquartrrs to Atlanta Field office. 4/19/G-i : 
1Cnrtin Luther King Report : Sec. IC, “Wiretap Surwillancr of Dr. King and the 
SCT~C.” 

I” Katzcnbach’s initials appear on memoranda nddrwsed to the Attorney Gen- 
eral advising him of these bugs. but he cannot recall seeing or initialing them. 
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1Yhilc there is 110 cl-itlcnce that the fllll estcnt of tlw Fl%I’s caml~a~gl~ 
to tlisciwlit 1)1*. King \Vi\S :anthorizctl b\- 01’ knoWn to ;UlY011e 0lltSlCle 
of the I<ureau. thcw is witlencc that officials resl)onsiblc i’or snpervis- 
inp the 12131 rccrivrtl iiitlications that sonle sucll eflorts ~crc being 
~u~tlc~rtalic~~ E’or example. former Attorney General K’atzenbach and 
fornwr A1ssistant, ,1ttorncv General 13urke ~Iarshall both test.ified 
that in Iatr 1964 thcr learn~tl that the 12uwau hat1 oticrctl tape recortl- 
ings of I)r. King to certain ne\vsJilcn in n’ashington, D.C. They fur- 

ther stxtctl that the\- inforuw(l I’rrsident ,Johnson of the FBI’S 
offc~~;.~'~ The Committee has discoveretl no evitlence: however. that. the 
Presitlcnt or rflisticr Department oficials made any further effort to 
halt the discrediting campaign at this time or at, any other time; in- 
deed. the Bnwau’s campaign continued for several years after this 
incident. 

On some occasions! ntlministration officials di(l not request fnrthel 
details about intelligence programs because they simply did not want 
to know. Fornler I’ustmaster General .J. Edward I jay testified that. 
when Allen IMles and Kichard Helms spoke to him abont a (‘1-i 
project, in I!)til, he interruptetl them before they could tell him the 
purl~osc of their \%it (which Helms saitl was to say mail n-as being 
openetl). Day stated : 

. . . Mr. Dnlles, after so~lle preliminary visiting ant1 so on, 
said that he waiitetl to tell IIIC somctliing very secret, alit1 I 
said. “Ijo I ha\-P to know about it ?” Ant1 hc said. “So.” 

I said. “My esl)erience is tllat where there is something that 
is \-err secret. it is likel- to leak out, ant1 anybody that knew 
about It is likely to be suspected of having been part of leak- 
ing it out. so I ~~-ould rather not know anything about it.” 

TT’hnt additional things were said iii connection with him 
building up to that, I don’t know. Hut 1 am swc . . . that I 
n-as not. told anything about opening mail.” 1’S 

By his own account, therefore. Mr. I)ay did not learn the trne nature 
of this project because he “would rather not know anything about it.” 
Although rarely expressed in such unequivocal terms, this attitude 
appears to have been all too common among senior government 
officials. 

(Memoranda from J. Edgnr Hoowr tu the Attorwy General, S/17/63, 10/19/65, 
E/l/G.?: Kntzenhach. E/l/E. Hearings, Tel. 6, p, 211. 11. -I&) IIe stated. liow- 
ever. that if hc had read these docliments. he would hare “done something about 
it.” (IQatzenbach, Hearings. Vol. 6. 1,. 230.) 

‘I’ .i transmittal slip, ~hic11 the FBI chims Ilad been attached to the 12/l/65 
memorandum, notes that “these are l)articnlnrly delicate surveillances” and 
that “we sl~oultl be rery cautious in terms of the non-FBI people who may from 
time to time necessarily Iw involved ill some aspect of installation.” (JIemo- 
l’~lKldUlll from Sicllolas Ibtzenbach to .J. Edgar IIoorer, E/10/63.) This mes- 
sage is Siglled I,$ Ihtzeuhach. l)nt he testified that lie 1s UnSUre it related to 
the Iiine sumeillarlcrs. ( Iiatzcnl~ac1~. E/,?/T.‘i. Hearings, Vol. 6, 1,. 229.) 

Iii IGltzenl~ncll. 12/3/9Z. IIrarings, Vol. G, 1,. 210 ; JSUrlie Xarsliall testimony. 
3/3/x. pp. 3s43. 
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Eren when administration officials were fully apprised of the illegal 
or questionable nature of certain l)ropran~~ ant1 tec~lmiqucs. they. somc- 
times permitted them to continue . Ah exanil~lr of acquiescence is pre- 
sentecl in the case of Williaiii (‘otter. a fornier Chief Postal Inspector 
Who knew that the. CL1 openc(l mail iii coniiection with its Scn York 
project but took no direct action to terminate the project for a period 
of four vcars.ll” Cotter had learned of this project in his capacity as a 
CIA ofKcia1 in the mid-1930’s and he knew thnt’it was continuing when 
he was sworn in as Chief Postal Inspector in -April 1060.” Be- 
cause the primate- responsibility of his position was to insure the 
sanctity of the mails, he was unclerstnndablv “very. very uncomfort. 
able with [knowledge of the XIX- York] project,” 11* bnt he felt con- 
st.rained by the letter and spirit of the secrecy oath which he hacl signecl 
when he left the CL1 in 1969 “attesting to the fact that I would not 
divulge secret information that came mto my possession during the 
time that, I was with the CIA.” I19 Cotter stated : “After coming from 
eighteen years in the CIA, I was hypersensitirc. perhaps, to the pro- 
tection of what, I ‘believed to be a most sensitive project . . .” lzo For 
several years, he placed the dictate of the secrecy oath above that of 
ihe Ian- he was charged with enforcing. 

Former White House adviser John Ehrlichman also stated that he 
learned of a program of intercepting mail between the Dnited States 
and Conimunist~ countries “because I had seen reports that cited those 
kintls of sources in connection with this, the bombings, the dissident 
activities.” lZ1 Yet he cannot recall any White House inquiry that was 
mado into such a program nor can he recall raising the matter with the 
President.122 

When President, Sixon learned of the illegal techniques that were 
recommended in the Huston Plan. he initially endorsed, rather than 
disavowed them. The former President stated that “[t]o the extent 
that I reviewed the, Special Report of Interagency Committee on In- 
telligence, I would have been informed that certain recommendations 
or decisions set forth in that report, were, or might be construed to be, 
illegal.” lz3 He nonetheless approved them. in part. because they repre- 
sented an efficient method of intelligence collection. As President Sixon 
explained, “[M]y approl-al was based largely on the fact that the pro- 
cedures were consistent with those employed by prior administrations 
and had been found to be effective by the intelligence agencies.” lZ4 

Mr. Nixon also apparently relied on the theory that a “sovereign?’ 
President can authorize the kiolation of criminal‘laws in the name of 
“national security” when the President, in his sole discretion, deems it 
appropriate. He recently stated : 

UBIn 1973, however, Mr. Cotter was instrumental in effecting the termination 
of the CIA’s Sew York project. (Cotter, S/7/75, p. 45.) 

I” Cotter, S/7/75, p. 45. 
I18 Ibid. 
US Cotter 10/22/X, Hearings, Vol. 4, p. 74. 
I” Ibid. 
121 John Erlichman testimony, President’s Commission on CIA Activities 

Within the United States, 4/17/76. p. 9% 
12p Erlichman testimony, President’s Commission on CIA Actirities Within the 

United States, 4/17/76, p. 98. 
‘=Answer of Richard 11. Sison to Senate Select Committee Interrogatory 23, 

3/S/76, p. 13. 
121 Answer of Richard 31. Sison to Senate Select Committee Interrogatory 19. 

3/9/76, p. 13. 
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It. is quite obvious that there are certain inherently govern- 
mental actions which if untlertaken by the sovereign in protec- 
tion of the interest of the nation’s security are lawful but 
which if undertaken by private persons are not. . . . 

. . . [I]t is naive to attcml)t to categorize activities a Pwsi- 
dent might authorize as ,‘legal” or “illegal” without refer- 
cnce to the circumstances nntlrr which he concludes that the 
activity is necessary. . . . 

In Aort. there linl-c lw~i--ant1 will be in the futiur--cir- 
cumstances in which Presitlents may lawfully authorize ac- 
tions in the intewsts of th(> sccnrit? of this colultI;y, which if 
Ilntlcrtaken by other persons. or C\‘EII by the Prcwdent under 
clitYrrcnt. circumstances. ~onlcl be illepal.12” 

As the former President describecl this doctrine, it could apply not 
only to actions taken openly. which are subject to later challenge by 
Congress and the courts. but also to actions such as those rccommendcd 
in the Huston Plan, which are covert11 endorsed and implemented. 
The dangers inherent in this theory are clear. for it permits a Presi- 
dent to create exceptions to normal legal restraints and prohibitions. 
without review by a neutral authority and without objective stand- 
nrcls to guide llin1.12G The Huston Plan itself serves as a reminder of 
t licse d&gers. 

Significantly, President Sison’s revocation of approval for the 
IInston Plan was basecl on the possibility of “media criticism” if the 
iw of these techniques was revealed. The former President stated : 

Mr. Mitchell informed me that. it was Director Hoover’s opin- 
ion that initiating a program which would permit several 
governments intelligence, agencies to utilize the. investi@ire 
techniques outlined in the. Committee’s report. woulcl slgnifi- 
cantly increase the possibility of their public disclosure. Mr. 
Mitchell explained to me that Mr. Hoover believed that al- 
though each of the intelligence gathering methods outlined in 
the Committee’s recommendations had been utilized by one or 
more previous Administrations. their sensitivity would likely 
generate, media criticism if they were employed. Mr. Mitchell 
further informecl me that it was his opinion that the risk of 
disclosure of the possible illegal actions, such as unauthorized 
entry into foreign embassies to install a microphone transmit- 
ter, was greater than the possible benefit to be derived. Based 
upon this conversation with attorney General Mitchell, I cle- 
tided to revoke the approval originally extended to the Conl- 
mittee’s recommendation5.‘27 

In more than one instance, administration officials outside the in- 
telligence commnnit;v hare specifically requested intelligence agencies 
to undertake questionable actions. SSh’s program of monitoritig tele- 
phonic communications between Sew Pork City and a city in South 
America, for example, n-as undertaken at the specific request of the 
Hureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs. a law enforcement agency. 

‘% Answer of Richard JI. Sison to Senate Select Committee Interrogatory 34, 
3/9/76. nn. lG17. 

128 President Ford has recently rejected this doctrine of Presidential power. 
‘2’Answer of Richard JI. Sison to Senate Select Committee Interrogatory 17, 

3/9/R, pp. 11-12. 
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BSDD officials had been concerned about drug deals that were anpar: 
rjltly :lrrangerl in calls from public telephones in Sew York to South 
,1inerica. but they felt that ther could not le.gally wiretap these tcle- 
plNmc booths. I** In order to avoid tapping a limited number of ]>honeS 
in SCV York, BNDD submitted the names of 450 --\nwrican citizens 
for inclusion in SSh’s JT’atch T&t. and requested SS.\ to monitor a 
communications link between Sew York and South -1nlerica \vhich 
necessitated the interception of thousands of international telephone 
calls.12” 

The legal limitations on domestic wiretapping apparently did not 
concc~rn certain o%rials in the White House or ,%ttorneys General who 
requested the FBI to do their biddin,. (I In some instances, they specif- 
ically requested the FBI to institute wiretaps on ,4merican citizens 
with no substantial national security predicate for doing so.‘“” 

On occasion, Rttorneys General have also encouraged the FBI to 
circumvent the will of both Congress and the Supreme Court. I\s noted 
above, after Conpress passed the Emergency Detention ,4ct of 1950 to 
regulate the FBI program for listing people to be detained in case of 
war or other emergency, Justice Department officials concluded that 
its procedural safeguards and substantive standarcls were “nnwork- 
able”. ,Attorney General J. Howard McGrath instructed the FBI to 
disregard the statute and “proceed with the [Security Index] program 
as previously outlined.” IS1 Two subsequent Attorneys &neral-*James 
McGranery and Herbert Brownell-endorsed the decision to ignore 
the Emergency Detention Act.13” 

In 1954, the Supreme Court denounced the use of microphone sur- 
veillances bv local police in criminal cases: I33 the fact that a micro- 
phone had been installed in a defendant’s bedroom particularly ont- 
raged the court. Within weeks of this decision, however, Attorney 
General Herbert Brownell reversed the existing ,Justice Department 
policy prohibiting trespassorp microphone installations by the FBI, 
and Irave the Bureau sweeping new authority to engage in bugging for 
intelligence purposes-even when it meant planting microphones in 
bedrooms.134 Brownell wrote J. Edgar Hoover: 

Obviously. the installation of a microphone in a bedroom or 
in some comparablv intimate location should be avoided 
whenever possible. It. mav appear. however, that. important 
intelligence or evidence relating to matters connected with the 
national security can onlv be obtained by the installation of a 
microphone in such a location. . . . 

. . . I recognize that for the FBI to fulfill its important in- 
telligence function. considerations of internal security and the 
national safety are paramount and, therefore. may compel the 
unrestricted use of this technique in the national interest.13” 

**’ Xilton Iredell, 9/B/75. p. 99. 
12s Memorandum from Ingersoll to GarIer. 4/10/70. 
130 See Findings, “Political Ahuw” and “Intrusive Techniques” for examples. 
1a Memorandum from A. H. Belmont to n. 11. Ladd, 10/15/52. 
lga ~bmorandum from Attorney General James McGranery to J. Edgar Hoover. 

11/25/52: memorandum from Attorney General Herbert Brotvnell to a. Edgar 
Hoover, 4/27/53. 

x33 lrcine v. California. 347 U.S. 128 (1954). 
lM Memorandum from the Attornev General to the Director, FBI, s/20/54. 
‘3’Memorandum from the Attornei General to the Director. FBI, G/20/54. 
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Brownrll did not even require tlw ~m~au to seek the, Attornev Gen- 
eral’s prior approval for micropl~one installations in par’ticular 
cwses.‘36 In tlic face of the Iwine decision, therefore. he gave the FBI 
nntllority to bug II-liomerer it wished wherever it wislied in cases that, 
the I3~wrau--and not the ,1ttorncy CTeiieral--dctermincd were “in the 
national interest.” 

In short, disregard of the law by intelligence officers was selclom 
corrected, and sometimes encouraged or facilitated, by officials out- 
&k the agencies. Whether by inaction or direct participation, these 
administration officials contr?bnted to the perception that legal re- 
stra.ints did not apply to intelligence, activities. 

138 Ibid. 
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